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DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC SAFETY,
)



)



Petitioner,
)




)


vs.

)

No. 10-2385 PO



)

RONALD H. JACKSON,
)




)



Respondent.
)

DECISION 


Ronald H. Jackson is subject to discipline because he stole electronic equipment that had come into his possession as a result of his employment as a police officer and because his conduct was committed under color of law and involved moral turpitude.  
Procedure


The Director of the Department of Public Safety (“the Director”) filed a complaint on December 30, 2010, seeking this Commission’s determination that Jackson’s peace officer license is subject to discipline.  Jackson was served with our notice of complaint/notice of hearing on June 23, 2011.

The Director filed a motion for summary decision (“the motion”) on September 1, 2011.  Our correspondence to him concerning the motion was returned as undeliverable, and Jackson did not respond to the motion.  We denied the motion on December 12, 2011, because we had no proof that Jackson ever received it.  Our order rescheduled the hearing for April 24, 2012 and stated that the Director could renew his motion in the future.

On March 23, 2012, the Director filed an affidavit attesting that Jackson was personally served with our December 12, 2011 order on March 21, 2012.  Therefore, he had notice of the time and place of the hearing we held on April 24, 2012.  Assistant Attorney General Joseph L. Goff, Jr. represented the Director.  Neither Jackson nor anyone representing him appeared.  The case became ready for our decision on April 24, 2012, the date the transcript was filed.


 We make our findings of fact from the Director’s affidavit of licensure and the certified copies of records from the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri, which were submitted by the Director and admitted into evidence at the hearing.  The following facts are not disputed.
Findings of Fact

1. Jackson is licensed as a peace officer, and he was in 2009 when the events at issue in this case occurred.  He was employed as a police officer with the St. Louis Metropolitan Police Department.
2. On July 27, 2009, an informant told Jackson that “Jane Doe” was in a vehicle on the parking lot of the Phillips 66 station at 5728 West Florissant Avenue in the city of St. Louis, and that Jane Doe was in possession of electronic equipment stolen from the retailer Best Buy.  
3. Jackson told the informant he would find Jane Doe, seize the stolen electronic equipment from her vehicle, and split some of the equipment with the informant.  Jackson then told Christian Brezill, another police officer, about the plan.  
4. Jackson and Brezill traveled in their marked police vehicles to the Phillips 66 station where they saw Jane Doe in her car.  
5. Jackson and Brezill ran a computer check on Jane Doe, discovered that she had outstanding minor traffic warrants, arrested her on those traffic warrants, and placed her, handcuffed, into Brezill’s marked police vehicle.
6. Jackson and Brezill searched Jane Doe’s trunk and discovered electronic equipment in original boxes and in Best Buy store bags, valued at $1,480.34.
7. Believing the electronic equipment to be stolen merchandise from Best Buy, Jackson and Brezill moved the electronic equipment from Jane Doe’s car to the trunk of Brezill’s police car.  They took Jane Doe to the North Patrol Division where she was booked on the outstanding minor traffic warrants.  Jane Doe was neither arrested nor charged relative to her possession of the suspected stolen electronic equipment.  Neither Jackson nor Brezill reported their seizure of the electronic equipment from Jane Doe’s car.
8. After their work shift ended on July 27, 2009, Jackson and Brezill met at a residential location and divided the seized electronic equipment between themselves and Jackson’s informant.
9. In fact, Jane Doe was cooperating with law enforcement, and the electronic equipment was the property of the United States.
10. Jackson pled guilty, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri, to theft of United States government property, in violation of §§ 18 U.S.C. 641 and 2, on December 17, 2009.  He was ordered to pay restitution and sentenced to 18 months in the custody of the United States Bureau of Prisons followed by two years’ supervised release.
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear this case.
  The Director has the burden of proving that Jackson has committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  The Director argues that there is cause for discipline under § 590.080:

1.  The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:
*   *   *
(2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed;

(3) Has committed any act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude or a reckless disregard for the safety of the public or any person[.]

I.  Criminal Offense

Jackson pled guilty to theft of United States government property, in violation of 18 USC §§ 641 and 2.  18 U.S.C. § 641 provides:
Whoever embezzles, steals, purloins or knowingly converts to his use or the use of another, or without authority, sells, conveys or disposes of any record, voucher, money, or thing of value of the United States or of any department or agency thereof, or any property made or being made under contract for the United States or any department or agency thereof; or

Whoever receives, conceals, or retains the same with intent to convert it to his use or gain, knowing it to have been embezzled, stolen, purloined or converted –

Shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both[.]

18 U.S.C. § 2 provides:
(a) Whoever commits an offense against the United States or 
aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces or procures its 
commission, is punishable as a principal.

Jackson pled guilty to two federal offenses -- theft of U.S. government property and committing an offense against the United States.  He is estopped from denying that he committed those offenses,
 and he made no attempt to do so.  He committed those criminal offenses. 

The Director also argues that Jackson’s conduct was in violation of § 570.080 and 
§ 562.041, RSMo 2000.  Those statutes provide, respectively:

570.080.1:

A person commits the crime of receiving stolen property if for the purpose of depriving the owner of a lawful interest therein, he or she receives, retains or disposes of property of another knowing that it has been stolen, or believing that it has been stolen.

562.041.1:

A person is criminally responsible for the conduct of another when:

*  *  *

(2) Either before or during the commission of an offense with the purpose of promoting the commission of an offense, he aids or agrees to aid or attempts to aid such other person in planning, committing or attempting to commit the offense.



Based on the facts established in the criminal records, we agree that Jackson also committed these offenses.  There is cause to discipline his license under § 590.080.1(2).  
II.  Act Involving Moral Turpitude

The Director asserts that Jackson may be disciplined under § 590.080.1(3) for committing an act while on active duty or under color of law that involves moral turpitude.  As defined by a court when construing the term in the context of 42 U.S.C. § 1983:
“The traditional definition of acting under color of state law requires that the defendant in a § 1983 action have exercised power ‘possessed by virtue of state law and made possible only because the wrongdoer is clothed with the authority of state law.’” . . .  At the same time, however, the Supreme Court has made clear that even the “[m]isuse of power” possessed by virtue of state law is action taken “under color of state law.” . . .  Thus, “under ‘color’ of law” means “under ‘pretense’ of law,” and “[a]cts of officers who undertake to perform their official duties are included whether they hew to the line of their authority or overstep it.”[
]

The entire scheme by which Jackson came into possession of the federal property was made possible by the fact that he was a police officer and acted as such when he appropriated the property for Jackson and himself.  He acted under color of law.

Moral turpitude is:
an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty 

between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

We agree that Jackson’s conduct involved moral turpitude.
  His actions were corrupt, dishonest, and involved an egregious abuse of power.  He is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(3).  
Summary


Jackson is subject to discipline under § 590.080.1(2) and (3).  

SO ORDERED on May 14, 2012
.


________________________________



KAREN A. WINN


Commissioner

�Section 590.080.2.  Statutory references are to RSMo Supp. 2011 unless otherwise noted.


�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


�Carr. v. Holt, 134 S.W.3d 647 (Mo. App., E.D. 2004).


�RSMo 2000. 


	�Dossett v. First State Bank, 399 F.3d 940, 949 (8th Cir. 2005).


	�In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).


	�In Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary and Secondary Education,� 213 S.W.3d 720 (Mo. App., W.D. 2007), a case that involved discipline of a teacher’s certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court referred to three classifications of crimes.  The egregious circumstances of Jackson’s crime make it unnecessary to determine which category it falls into, as his actions clearly involved moral turpitude.





�SH, I think these both need another “0” -- .080 and .041, but I can’t add them in!





PAGE  
6

_967358278.doc



